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         In general, the terminology in use during the nineteenth century is employed in this book and where necessary, the modern version is also included. For example, Van Diemen’s Land refers to Tasmania (in use after 1855) and I have generally used Great Fish River or Back’s Great Fish River which was in use at the time and is today known as Back River.

         The question as to how to refer to the native people of the Canadian Arctic during the age of exploration is difficult. Although the most acceptable term today is ‘Inuit’, the term ‘Eskimo’ (or ‘Esquimaux’) was commonly used during the nineteenth century, when most events in this book took place. For the purposes of this book, I use Inuit and only employ Eskimo where it comes from a direct quotation or reference. Alternatively, significant events in this book occurred around King William Island which is called ‘Qikiqtaq’ in the Inuktitut language. For simplicity, I refer to King William Island which was in widespread use at the time. No discourtesy is intended.

         The punctuation, spelling and grammar used in original quotations are faithfully repeated, however erratic they may be.

         Temperatures are shown in Fahrenheit with conversion into Celsius and weights are generally given in imperial measure with approximate metric conversions. Distances are usually given in statute miles with rough conversion to kilometres. Data from the UK National Archives and the Bank of England provide an approximation of the current purchasing power of past monetary values.
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            Pointing the Way
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         In April 1848, Captain Francis Crozier, by then in command of the largest expedition ever sent to discover the North West Passage, scribbled a nine-word message on a scrap of paper, signed his name and placed the note in a tin cannister before vanishing into the Arctic wilderness. Crozier’s note was discovered eleven years later, and for the next 160 years explorers, scientists and enthusiasts followed the clues he left in an attempt to solve the mystery of what lay behind the biggest disaster in the history of polar exploration.

         The most significant breakthrough has come in recent years with the remarkable discovery of the expedition ships, Erebus and Terror, lying in shallow waters above the Arctic Circle. Crozier did not launch the crusade for clues, but his message sent the crusaders in the right direction.

         The precise wording of Crozier’s message was: ‘And start on tomorrow 26th for Backs Fish River.’ Although ambiguous and lacking much detail, the note at least revealed Crozier’s intentions and gave generations a clear indication of where to search in the vast, scarcely populated Arctic wastelands stretching for at least 800,000 square miles (over 2,000,000 square kilometres).

         The crucial document, which was found in 1859, was a regulation navy 12 form traditionally left to indicate a vessel’s geographic position to those sent in search of a missing ship. Most of the words added to the printed document were written in the margins by the captain of Erebus, James Fitzjames, who outlined past events, such as the party’s geographical position at the time of abandoning the ships and news of the expedition leader, Sir John Franklin’s, death.

         Crozier’s short message, which is squeezed into a corner of the document and appears almost as an afterthought, is the only surviving written clue to the expedition’s plans for escape. Due to the lack of space, he wrote the short message upside down in the corner of the document.

         It was a pivotal discovery which sent generations to the barren area along the western and southern coasts of King William Island, leading to a trail of skeletons, scattered debris and ultimately the wrecks of Erebus and Terror. One authority said it was ‘the most evocative document in the long history of Western exploration of the Arctic regions’.

         The unfortunate venture is generally known as the Franklin Expedition after Sir John Franklin, who was appointed as leader at the outset. However, Franklin had died a year before Crozier wrote his terse message. While Franklin led his men into the jaws of the ice, the responsibility for leading them out fell into the hands of Captain Crozier.

         The search which followed was extraordinary by any standards. The North West Passage expedition initially left London in May 1845 and was last seen on the edge of Baffin Bay in July of the same year, with all 129 on board Erebus and Terror reportedly in good spirits. The first relief expeditions were sent north in 1848 and over the next few years around forty ships combed the labyrinth of Arctic waterways in a vain attempt to trace the missing men. The official naval search ended in 1854, nine years after the expedition sailed, and the privately financed Fox expedition under the leadership of Leopold McClintock discovered the document and Crozier’s key message in 1859.

         McClintock’s return was the signal for the start of an unprecedented quest 13to uncover what happened to Crozier and his party. Over the next 160 years, at least fifty official and unofficial expeditions ventured into the Arctic, hoping to solve the mystery or to retrieve scattered relics from the snow. The true number of searches is impossible to calculate because so many private groups travelled unannounced to the area. However, more parties went in search of the dead than were ever sent to find the living.

         A breakthrough was achieved in 2014 and 2016 when specialist teams found the expedition’s ships, Erebus and Terror, on the sea floor in remote waters above the Arctic Circle. Experts believe the hugely significant discoveries will go a long way towards answering many questions and are eagerly analysing the large variety of objects already retrieved from the depths.

         However, locating the ships is only the first stage of a long and complex process. Assorted relics like the ship’s bell from Erebus, Victorian era scientific instruments and discarded clothing and shoes were the first objects recovered. But the biggest prizes yet to be claimed are the expedition’s logbooks, charts and even personal letters which experts believe have survived decades under water and can be safely reclaimed for historians to pore over and analyse. Overall, the full investigation of the secrets kept by Erebus and Terror will take at least ten years or possibly more.

         It will also provide an important opportunity to explore the remarkable story of Captain Crozier, particularly as there was considerably more to Crozier’s life than an unrecorded death somewhere in the Arctic.

         Crozier was among the most prolific and under-valued explorers of the age. He entered the navy as a child, survived the brutal Napoleonic War and emerged to sail with great distinction on six expeditions to the ice in an outstanding naval career lasting almost forty years. Crozier was deeply involved in the nineteenth century’s three great endeavours of maritime discovery – navigating the North West Passage, reaching the North Pole and mapping Antarctica. Only Crozier’s great friend, Sir James Clark Ross braved more polar expeditions. 14

         There is a perception that all the great stories from the history of polar exploration involve the outstanding figures of the ‘heroic age’ of Antarctic discovery in the early twentieth century, such as Roald Amundsen, Tom Crean, Robert Scott and Ernest Shackleton. All are rightly saluted for their memorable exploits, yet to focus entirely on this era would be mistaken. There are other half-forgotten explorers who made history and yet have been neglected by history. Such a man was Francis Rawdon Moira Crozier.

         Francis Crozier, who sprang from an old-established Irish family over 200 years ago, was the pioneer whose voyages opened the doors of the Arctic and Antarctic for the more recognised figures who followed in his wake. For example, the destination in The Worst Journey in the World, the famous book about a hazardous journey to Cape Crozier during Captain Scott’s last expedition in 1911, was discovered by Crozier and Ross in 1841. Other landmarks familiar to readers of Antarctic history – McMurdo Sound, Ross Island, Mount Erebus and the Great Ice Barrier (now Ross Ice Shelf) where Scott died – were discovered and named by Crozier and Ross sixty years before Scott and Shackleton landed on the continent.

         As one of the few early explorers to venture into both the Arctic and Antarctic regions, it might be assumed Crozier would be known from pole to pole for his accomplishments. But fame and recognition have eluded him. He was a modest, unassuming man who somehow never strayed into the limelight and received limited reward for his prodigious efforts. He was honest, dependable and without a hint of vanity, although he never rose above the rank of Captain.

         Unlike others, Crozier was never asked to write a book about his voyages and adventures in places which others could only dream of visiting. Sadly, he did not live long enough to enjoy a peaceful retirement, writing his memoirs and savouring a little of the limelight. Alone among the era’s renowned circle of polar explorers in the first half of the nineteenth century – including Back, Franklin, Parry, Richardson and Ross – Crozier did not receive a knighthood for his great endeavours.

         15 Crozier faded from history in the years after his death. Only the assiduous efforts of a hard core of admirers, particularly around his hometown of Banbridge, County Down, have kept the memory of Francis Crozier alive. The towering Crozier monument in the centre of Banbridge is a permanent reminder of this regard.

         I have always nursed a fondness for the unsung hero, the neglected individual whose character and achievements are underestimated or have been overlooked by history. It was this curious fascination that led me to write the first biography of the indestructible Irish polar explorer, Tom Crean. The title, An Unsung Hero, seemed singularly appropriate.

         Crozier is another unsung hero. He was an exceptional explorer poorly treated by history, who deserves far wider recognition for accomplishments that would have been remarkable in any age of exploration. Helped by the new discovery of Erebus and Terror, we now have the perfect moment to re-open the file on Crozier.

         This is the first comprehensive biography of Crozier and it has a simple aim: to place Francis Rawdon Moira Crozier among those exceptional individuals who shaped Arctic and Antarctic history.
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            A Bond with History
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         The long line to Francis Rawdon Moira Crozier can be reliably traced back 600 years and with less certainty by a full 1,000 years. It is appropriate that a man who left such an indelible mark on history should emerge from a distinguished family whose fortunes over the centuries were intertwined with history itself.

         Crozier’s earliest-known ancestors originated in France and later settled in England. Family members migrated to Ireland in the seventeenth century and created a dynasty of Irish Croziers whose most illustrious son was Francis Crozier.

         The clue to his origins comes from the name ‘Crozier’ itself, which derives from the French word croise, meaning crusader. In Old French – in use up to the fourteenth century – the name was written Crocier, which is more akin to the present-day English spelling. Over the years, the family name has been variously spelt Croyser, Crozer, Croisier, Crosier and Croysier.

         The ancestors of Francis Crozier were of Norman descent and first emerged when they joined the armies of William the Conqueror to invade England in the momentous year of 1066. After they defeated the English at the Battle of Hastings, large swathes of captured lands were given to William’s supporters, including Robert le Brus, who was to establish a line 18of Scottish kings. The Croziers were among the closest allies of le Brus, whose most notable descendant was Robert the Bruce, the Scottish king who triumphed over the English at Bannockburn in 1314.

         Members of the Crozier family followed le Brus into newly acquired estates in the north of England and later settled along the notoriously volatile border between England and Scotland in the ancient county of Cumberland (now Cumbria). During the following centuries, generations of Croziers established themselves as landowners in Cumberland and in the fertile valleys alongside the Liddel and Teviot rivers to the south of the old Scottish town of Hawick.

         Some Croziers were among the villainous freebooters – called ‘moss troopers’ – operating along the unruly frontier between England and Scotland, where robbery, kidnap and murder was rife. Sir Walter Scott’s classic poem Rokeby (1813) refers to an incident where ‘a band of moss-troopers of the name Crosier’ murdered a well-known landowner in the borders.1

         Others led a more peaceful existence, notably William Crozier, who was among the band of scholars credited with helping to create Scotland’s first university at St Andrew’s in 1411. Around this time emerged Nicholas Crozier, the man identified as the founder of the Irish strain of Croziers.

         Nicholas moved from the Cumberland town of Cockermouth in the early 1420s to start a new life on farmlands at New Biggin near the small village of Heighington, County Durham. Over the years, the Heighington Croziers put together a sizeable estate of around 1,000 acres and built a fine home named Redworth Hall (a modernised Redworth Hall still stands on the site). It was from these roots set down by Nicholas Crozier in the fifteenth century that the Irish Croziers would emerge around 200 years later.

         John Crozier, a seventeenth-century cavalry captain, was the first member of the family to settle in Ireland. He left the Durham estate in the early 1630s as part of Britain’s scheme to subdue Ireland through the mass plantation of Protestant settlers from Scotland and England into the province of Ulster, resulting in wholesale land seizures and a seismic shift 19in power away from the Catholic majority. The reverberations of the plantation are still felt to this day.

         Captain Crozier was a member of the troops stationed at Dublin Castle to guard Sir Thomas Wentworth, the newly appointed Lord Deputy of Ireland. Wentworth, a key advisor to King Charles I and a ruthless reformer, was later created Lord Strafford and executed for treason in the sinister political struggles which led to the outbreak of the English Civil War in 1642 and the rise to power of Oliver Cromwell.

         Crozier, perhaps sensing the growing political turmoil and impending civil war in England, decided to remain in Ireland with his family and build a new life. His father, Nicholas Crozier, sold parcels of land from the family estate in Durham to pay for his son’s new home and within a century the Croziers owned more than 1,000 acres of prime land in the north of Ireland.

         The Croziers were part of the large Presbyterian community that settled around the counties of Antrim and Down. They cemented their social status over the years with a succession of well-chosen marriages into other leading northern families, among them the Magills and Johnstons. At this time, a family motto was developed: Dilengta fortunae matrix; Hard work is the mother of success.

         In 1692, Captain Crozier’s youngest son William moved to Gilford, County Down with his three sons, John, Samuel and William. Here, he bought a sizeable estate named Loughans from a local landowner, Sir John Magill. The property was later renamed Stramore (‘great valley’) and divided in two. The lowland portion, called Lower Stramore, was given to William’s second son, Samuel, while John, the eldest son of William Crozier, occupied the upland property to the northwest of Gilford, named Upper Stramore. An adjoining estate – The Parke – was purchased for the youngest son, William.

         Among the direct descendants of the Croziers from Upper Stramore was Francis Crozier. Two years after moving to Upper Stramore, John 20Crozier married Mary Fraser, a member of the eminent Lovat family, one of Scotland’s oldest and wealthiest landowning dynasties. Like the Croziers, the Frasers are originally thought to have come to England with William the Conqueror.

         John and Mary had eleven children; their ninth son, George, married Martha Ledlie of Ardboe, County Tyrone in 1742, and was Francis Crozier’s grandfather. The union of George and Martha yielded a family of six children.

         The youngest son, also named George, married Jane Elliott Graham from Ballymoney Lodge in the small but rapidly developing nearby town of Banbridge, County Down. It was another fruitful marriage and George Crozier and his wife Jane produced a family of thirteen children – seven girls and six boys – including Francis Crozier.2

         Francis Crozier was born into a prosperous, well-to-do family, led by his astute and enterprising father, George. He was a successful solicitor who manoeuvred the family away from its traditional sphere of property ownership and soldiering and built one of Ireland’s most successful legal practices. George Crozier was also a man who made the most of high-ranking friends and a generous slice of good fortune.

         The key to his commercial success was a close association with the Marquis of Downshire and Lord Moira, the heads of two of the richest and most powerful landowning families in Ireland. George Crozier’s legal firm on occasions acted for both Downshire and Moira, links which provided an entrée into the upper reaches of Irish society and, with it, affluence. The bonds were strengthened in later years when George’s son Thomas assumed control of the business and became renowned as Downshire’s solicitor in Ireland.

         The Croziers’ association with the Downshire and Moira families went back almost 200 years. The Downshire line in Ireland was established by Moyses Hill, an Elizabethan soldier who came from Devon in 1573. The Hills later acquired estates at Cromlyn – from the Irish cromghlin (‘crooked glen’) – to the south of Belfast and subsequently became close neighbours of the early Croziers. Wills Hill, the first Marquis of Downshire, built the historic Hillsborough Castle in the ‘crooked glen’ almost two centuries after the arrival of Moyses Hill.21
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         22The Moira dynasty was established by Major George Rawdon, a soldier from Yorkshire who sailed to Ireland in the 1630s with Captain John Crozier and who settled at Moira on Down’s border with Antrim, a few miles to the north of the flourishing Crozier estates at Stramore. By the late eighteenth century, George Crozier’s circle of friends included Francis Rawdon, the second Earl of Moira, the distinguished soldier and colonial statesman who later became Lord Hastings.

         Apart from powerful friends, George Crozier also had abundant good fortune on his side thanks to the rapid emergence of the Irish linen industry and the Industrial Revolution, which brought an explosion of commercial activity around Banbridge in the eighteenth century. Over the space of only a few decades, the once sleepy settlement on the banks of the River Bann – known as Ballyvally until the turn of the eighteenth century – was transformed into a thriving industrial community as local farmers turned to bleaching linen at the numerous falls that punctuate the river.

         The gradual introduction of machinery-propelled linen making from a modest cottage industry to a dynamic modern enterprise and by the time of Francis Crozier’s childhood in the early 1800s, Banbridge boasted the largest linen market in County Down. Cloth from the town was exported to mills in England, Scotland and even America. The few miles on the River Bann between the small towns of Banbridge and Gilford were a bustling scene of activity which one eyewitness eloquently described as a ‘continued theatre of beauty, genius and commerce’.

         In 1791, George Crozier took full advantage of his prosperity and position to build a house in the centre of Banbridge. His new home, originally called Avonmore House but subsequently renamed Crozier House, was an impressive Georgian mansion situated opposite the parish church in Church Square, Banbridge. Spread over three floors and with an ample basement, the house – it still stands – features above its entrance a lunette decorated with the sleeping Venus and Cupid. 23
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         24It was at Avonmore House in the early autumn of 1796 that the eleventh child of George and Jane Crozier was born. The precise date of birth is not clear, though it is thought to have been 17 September. The boy, the couple’s fifth son, was named Francis Rawdon Moira Crozier after Francis Rawdon, the Earl of Moira.

         Little is known about the early life of the young Francis beyond the certainty that it was a privileged upbringing in a typically religious household. He attended Henry Hill School in Banbridge, run by the Presbyterian minister, Reverend Nathaniel Shaw.

         However, his birth was followed by a period of upheaval in Ireland with the emergence of the radical Society of United Irishmen, a revolutionary organisation aimed at uniting the Catholic and Protestant communities to overthrow British rule. In the schism which followed George Crozier was forced to steer a delicate path between the Downshires and the Moiras, who took opposite sides in the conflict.

         Downshire, the embodiment of the establishment, wrote that George Crozier’s family was ‘one of only four or five [Presbyterian] families in Banbridge’ opposed to the United Irishmen. George Crozier backed the winning side in the dispute. The United Irishmen were roundly defeated and in 1801 Ireland became an integral part of the United Kingdom under the Act of Union – the first time that all parts of the British Isles were subject to single rule.

         But despite the outcome, the Crozier family soon began to shift their faith from the traditional Presbyterian roots to the Anglican Church of Ireland. In the following years, family members became ministers in the Church of Ireland.

         One indisputable fact about the early life of Francis Crozier is that he enjoyed only a short childhood. In the summer of 1810, at the age of 25thirteen, Francis was plucked from the cosy security of the family home and sent off to join the Royal Navy. The decision to send young Francis to sea remains a mystery, even though it was customary to dispatch youngsters with sea-going ambitions into the navy as early as ten years of age. Many of those who later earned fame in the polar regions during the nineteenth and twentieth centuries – among them Edward Parry, James Clark Ross and Robert Scott – began their naval careers somewhere in the years between childhood and adolescence.

         But the enrolment of Francis in the navy was at odds with the pattern elsewhere in the Crozier family at that time. Although earlier generations of Croziers had served as soldiers, George Crozier appears to have broken the mould by steering his sons towards peaceful occupations in the Church or the world of commerce. Two sons – William and Thomas – followed their father into the legal profession, while Graham, the youngest, became a Church of Ireland vicar.

         Francis was the exception and it is unclear why George Crozier allowed his young son to forego his affluent life in Banbridge for the brutal rigours of the Royal Navy, which at the time was deeply embroiled in the bloody Napoleonic Wars with France. The Battle of Trafalgar, the most decisive naval engagement of the war, had been fought only five years before the fresh-faced teenager from Banbridge enlisted, while the Peninsular War, one of the key campaigns, was at that very moment in full swing. More than 90,000 British seamen alone were destined to die in the war which claimed the lives of approximately 5,000,000 combatants and civilians.

         So eager was George Crozier to get his son into uniform that he turned to his influential coterie of friends for help. During the early months of 1810, he approached Lord Downshire to pull a few strings at the Admiralty. Downshire contacted Lord Vincent, a well-connected family friend who only a few years earlier held the supreme rank of First Lord of the Admiralty. The seventy-five-year-old grandee, who had over half a century of military campaigns to his name, knew all the right people 26and shortly afterwards Francis was readily accepted into the navy.3

         Francis Crozier, still three months short of his fourteenth birthday, made the journey from boyhood to manhood when he travelled south from Banbridge to the port of Cork in the summer of 1810. He formally enlisted on 12 June and his first posting was aboard Hamadryad, a 34-gun warship stationed at Cork. It was the beginning of a lifetime of duty and devotion to the Royal Navy.
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         The Napoleonic Wars, a defining moment in British history, provided an epic backcloth to the early naval career of the youthful Francis Crozier. The Peninsular War, the long campaign in Spain and Portugal that destroyed the myth of French invincibility, was into its second year when Crozier sailed under Royal Navy colours for the first time. In 1812, less than two years after Crozier’s enlistment, Napoleon launched his catastrophic invasion of Russia. The Battle of Waterloo, the final and decisive act of the war, was fought only five years after Crozier enlisted.

         The navy was a critical factor in the war, and the defeat of Napoleon provided Britain with a century of virtually unchallenged supremacy on the high seas. When Crozier joined in 1810, the navy commanded an awesome fleet and could muster around 143,000 men. It was the heavy defeats the navy inflicted on Napoleon’s fleet and the rigorous naval blockades of French ports, cutting off supplies and destabilising the economy, which proved so important in the ultimate defeat of France.

         Crozier’s maiden voyage on Hamadryad was typical of the era. After escorting merchant vessels across the Atlantic to the Newfoundland Banks, Hamadryad returned to Lisbon with fresh troops for the Peninsular campaign. From the outset, Crozier found himself among veterans of the sea. 28Sir Thomas Staines, Hamadryad’s captain, had lost an arm in battle, and the ship itself, which was originally a Spanish vessel captured off Cadiz in 1804, had a colourful past.

         Conditions at sea were in stark contrast to the sheltered, comfortable surroundings of Banbridge. Life afloat in the early nineteenth century was rough, hazardous and enforced by a strict code of discipline that was barbaric by today’s standards.

         Fortunately, Crozier joined as the navy was making a slow transition from the brutality and primitive conditions of an earlier age to a more humane regime with better pay, food and hygiene. This was due to the new regulations introduced by the Royal Navy as a result of the Admiralty enquiry into the mutinous seizure of Captain William Bligh’s Bounty in 1789. But navy warships of the time were still invariably dirty and overcrowded and hundreds of men would struggle for space in the dimly lit and smoky recesses below decks. Hamadryad, a frigate, accommodated about 200 men.

         Punishment was mercilessly severe, although considerably more lenient than in earlier years when miscreants were subjected to keelhauling or had their right hand nailed to the mainmast. Flogging was still commonplace in Crozier’s time and offenders in the early nineteenth century could expect at least three dozen or more lashes, depending on the whim of the captain.

         Accidents and disease – scurvy, yellow fever and typhus – were a far bigger danger to men than enemy cannon or muskets. Only 6,000 of the 90,000 deaths on navy ships during the war were as a result of enemy action. By contrast, over 70,000 men were lost due to fatal sickness, wounds or mishap.

         Despite the hazards, it appears that Crozier made the adjustment to his new life with great aplomb and that he learned fast. He soon picked up the tools of his trade – navigation, mathematics, tidal calculations and general seamanship – which offered the route to advancement and promotion for any would-be officer.29 

         At the end of 1812, the sixteen-year-old Crozier gained his first promotion when he was appointed midshipman, the lowest officer rank. It appears he impressed his senior officers, and Sir Thomas Staines took Crozier with him when he was appointed captain of Briton in 1812.

         A 44-gun frigate, Briton was plunged straight into action, policing the dangerous waters in the Bay of Biscay where French and American ships tried to outrun patrolling British ships and get their precious cargoes into ports such as St Malo and Bordeaux.

         In June 1812, the navy was forced to open a new front when America declared war on Britain, a conflict that would last until 1815 and end in stalemate. Crozier was summoned into action when Briton was deployed to escort a convoy of 49 merchant ships around the Cape of Good Hope to the East Indies. When one of the merchantmen became disabled during a violent storm, Briton ushered the damaged ship into Rio de Janeiro for repairs. At Rio, Captain Staines was ordered to change course to the Pacific and to assist Phoebe and Cherub in arresting Essex, an American frigate harassing British whalers.

         The orders meant taking Briton alone around Cape Horn against the prevailing strong westerly winds. Rounding the Horn in a sailing vessel is invariably a precarious voyage and Crozier endured a ferocious baptism as Briton was assailed by violent storms that incapacitated over 100 crewmen – about half the ship’s complement. After a hair-raising trip, Briton docked at the Chilean port of Valparaíso in late May 1814, where it was discovered that the Essex had already been apprehended.

         Briton was now ordered to sail thousands of miles across the Pacific towards the Galapagos Islands and the more remote Marquesas Islands, where Staines was to link up with Tagus in pursuit of another American frigate. It was a long, hot voyage across the open expanse of the Pacific and though Briton and Tagus failed to track down the American frigate, the ships did find signs that the Essex had been active in the area before its apprehension. 30

         On Nuku Hiva – one of the largest islands in the Marquesas group – the navy found remnants of a village and fort built by the Americans, who had claimed it for the United States and named it Madison Island after the sitting US President. Staines had other ideas and promptly took formal possession for Britain.

         Crozier used his time in the Marquesas to collect specimens of weaponry from the friendly islanders. On his return to Ireland, he presented the collection to the Marquis of Downshire and the weapons were subsequently put on public display at Hillsborough Castle in 1881.

         The trip from the Marquesas back to South America in September 1814 was eventful, due to sloppy navigation by the Briton and Tagus. Navigators miscalculated longitude by a margin of three degrees and came across an unknown island that did not appear on Admiralty charts of the time. Staines moved closer to the heavily wooded coastline and was surprised when four canoes appeared and approached the ship. He was even more surprised when men in the canoes spoke to him in perfect English. He soon discovered that everyone on the remote island spoke English.

         The island was Pitcairn and its English-speakers were the direct descendants of the mutineers from Captain William Bligh’s Bounty. The mutineers and local Tahitians first arrived on the island in 1790 and Briton and Tagus were only the second outside vessels to reach Pitcairn, an isolated and rugged volcanic spot of barely 2 square miles (3 square kilometres) across.

         The little community-in-exile numbered 46 men, women and children when Briton and Tagus anchored offshore in 1814 and among those greeting the visitors from the Old World was Thursday October Christian, the son of the mutiny leader, Fletcher Christian.

         A more noteworthy figure on Pitcairn was John Adams, the last survivor of the original band of mutineers. A stocky and heavily tattooed figure in his early fifties, Adams cheerfully showed the British naval officers around his paradise ‘kingdom’. Pride of place was a library of books plundered from Bounty, each carefully inscribed with the distinctive signature of Captain Bligh. 31

         When Staines made a tantalising offer to take Adams back to England, the ageing mutineer was sorely tempted. After nearly twenty-five years in hiding, the promise of a return to his homeland was almost irresistible. But his Polynesian wife and family were distraught at the prospect, fearing that Adams would be hanged for his part in the mutiny. Adams – sometimes called Alexander Smith – reluctantly agreed to stay on Pitcairn and he lived the rest of his days in exile. He died in 1829, aged around sixty-five.

         Briton and Tagus returned to Valparaíso in early 1815, before taking another voyage round Cape Horn. Their arrival in England on 7 July 1815 came just three weeks after Napoleon’s defeat at Waterloo, which signalled an end to the Napoleonic Wars.

         The following year – 1816 – saw Crozier assigned to the 38-gun frigate Meander on guard duty on the River Thames. In 1817, he passed the Admiralty exams for mate and joined Queen Charlotte, a first-rate warship of 104 guns patrolling the English Channel. In 1818, at the age of twenty-two, Crozier was posted as mate to Dotterel – a 387-ton, 18-gun brig-sloop – where he served for three years.

         One of his first missions was to bring urgently required provisions to the isolated South Atlantic island of St Helena, where Napoleon had been exiled after his defeat at Waterloo. Supply ships from Britain had failed to reach the small community and the Dotterel formed part of a convoy to bring relief to the islanders.

         Crozier’s advancement coincided with a period of major upheaval in the navy, which was forced into huge changes when the Napoleonic Wars ended. By a twist of fate, this disruption was to lead Crozier into polar exploration.

         The Royal Navy was at that time the world’s most powerful fighting machine. But it was an enterprise geared to war and heavily over-provisioned for peace. As the peaceful era of the 1820s approached, the fleet was largely idle and the Admiralty was faced with the major headache of how to deal with thousands of unwanted men. 32

         Managing the ordinary seamen was brutally simple. By 1817, more than 100,000 sailors had been thrown back onto the streets from which most had been press-ganged. But most officers were men of patronage or wealth and not so easily discarded from the payroll. As Joseph Hume, the radical reformer, noted at the time: ‘Promotion in the army and navy was reserved for the aristocracy’. Despite the massive overmanning, the number of officers actually rose in the years following the end of the war, though nine in ten were unemployed.

         The logjam of superfluous officers was a huge barrier to further advancement, particularly as any new commissions were invariably granted to officers based on their age. Admirals were often still in service at the age of eighty, and some officers spent decades without ever securing a meaningful posting. By the 1820s, the chances of junior officers such as Crozier progressing up the ranks were slim.

         Into the post-Napoleonic breach came the unlikely figure of John Barrow, an accomplished civil servant at the Admiralty who proposed a variation on the biblical exhortation to turn ‘swords into ploughshares’. Barrow’s solution was exploration.

         Sensing the urgent need to redirect the navy’s efforts, he was to resolutely shape the nation’s policy on exploration for the next thirty years and ‘fathered’ a generation of explorers, including John Franklin, Edward Parry, James Clark Ross, and Francis Crozier.

         John Barrow was an éminence grise who for over four decades quietly wielded enormous power from his office at the Admiralty. He was the last civil servant to see Nelson alive before Trafalgar in 1805 and it was Barrow’s suggestion in 1816 to send Napoleon into exile on St Helena.

         Untypical of the elite who ran the country or controlled the military machine, Barrow was propelled to the heart of government by sheer intellect and driving ambition. The son of a poor hill farmer from near the Cumbrian town of Ulverston, he left school at thirteen and continued to study the classics, mathematics and astronomy. By his early twenties Barrow could speak and write Chinese.33
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         34In 1804, at the age of forty, Barrow was appointed Second Secretary at the Admiralty, a position he held unbroken for forty-one years. While political power and the elected political post of First Secretary regularly changed hands at elections, Barrow was a permanent feature exercising great authority from behind his desk at the Admiralty. When he finally retired in his early eighties, he took his Admiralty desk as a leaving gift.

         Barrow was the embodiment of the wise old adage that ‘ministers propose but civil servants dispose’. A stroke of Barrow’s pen carried more power than a naval gun battery. His great achievement was to persuade sceptical politicians that exploration would be a worthwhile exercise for the navy, both commercially and scientifically. British authority across the world, he argued, would be further bolstered by gaining footholds in the remaining unexplored regions of the planet. Planting the flag on these blank spots, he postulated, was a solemn national duty.

         His words fell on receptive ears in the euphoric atmosphere of the post-Napoleonic years, when the country believed nothing was beyond the capacity of the all-conquering British Empire. The roots of Britain’s aggressive imperialism of the nineteenth century can be found in the prevailing mood of invincibility that followed Napoleon’s defeat and it was influential men like Barrow who carefully nourished the popular cause of expanding the Empire.

         From 1816 until his retirement in 1845, Barrow coolly dispatched a flurry of expedition ships into the unknown to open new territories. His first foray was to send a party into the centre of Africa, but the expedition was a disaster, with only a handful of survivors emerging alive.

         Undeterred, Barrow turned to his real obsession – the Arctic. Despite the apparently logical option of opening up the unexplored and undeveloped regions of Africa or Asia, he insisted that the focus of exploration should be the undiscovered North West Passage and the North Pole.

         Barrow’s intervention signalled a significant change in the motivation for finding the passage or reaching the Pole. Attempts to navigate the 35North West Passage going back into the sixteenth century had been driven purely by the huge commercial rewards promised by the opening of lucrative new trade routes to China and India by way of a sea route across today’s Arctic Canada.

         The high seas of the sixteenth century were heavily dominated by the Portuguese and Spanish fleets, and Britain saw the North West Passage as a means of avoiding enemy ships and to secure access to important markets in the east. The search was given formal authority in 1745 when the government offered a substantial reward of £20,000 (over £2,000,000 in today’s terms) for the discovery of a passage.

         But the focus had changed a century later in the post-Napoleonic era, with Britain now the most powerful navy in the world and not intimidated by foreign powers. Instead, Barrow wanted to find the North West Passage for the national honour. It was a collective hubris, destined to end in disaster.

         At this time, no one had ever stood within 500 miles (800 kilometres) of the North Pole and finding a North West Passage across the top of the American continent had defied generations of explorers – mostly British – for nearly 300 years. But Barrow was aware that the Russians were active in the Bering Strait and he won crucial popular support for his plan by declaring that it would be ‘little short of an act of national suicide’ if a foreign navy beat Britain to the prize. At Barrow’s behest, fresh rewards from the public purse were offered for the first ship to reach the Pacific through Arctic waters.

         John Barrow’s judgement, however, did not match his passionate ambition and consuming ego. Barrow had made only one brief voyage north and his personal experience was minimal as he drew up bold plans to send a number of ships into Arctic waters. With an implicit belief in the omnipotence of the Royal Navy, he roundly dismissed the knowledge and experience of Arctic whaling captains or the native Inuit population as he aggressively framed his plans. 36

         Typical of Barrow’s philosophy was his firm advocacy of the ‘Open Polar Sea’ theory. According to its proponents, the North Pole was surrounded by ice-free and temperate waters and the only challenge for explorers was to navigate the known ice-belt at lower latitudes before sailing unhindered to the top of the world. Once through the pack ice, they argued, it would be plain sailing to the North Pole. The ‘Open Polar Sea’ theory was given a boost in 1817 when the highly accomplished whaling captain William Scoresby returned with reports that 18,000 square miles (28,800 square kilometres) of pack ice between the Svalbard archipelago and Greenland had mysteriously disappeared.

         Scorseby’s reports invigorated Barrow and in 1818 he prepared to send two naval expeditions north. One party was to pick a pathway through the pack ice to the North Pole, while a second was ordered to reverse hundreds of years of failure at a stroke by locating the North West Passage.

         The North Pole expedition departed London in April 1818 under the command of Captain David Buchan aboard Dorothea, accompanied by his second-in-command, John Franklin, a thirty-two-year-old veteran of Trafalgar, who took charge of Trent. Unlike vastly experienced merchant seamen such as Scoresby, none of the ships’ officers had ventured into high Arctic waters before. Scoresby’s complaint about the ‘want of experience in the navigation of icy seas’ was contemptuously brushed aside.

         The two ships endured appalling weather in the treacherous seas between Svalbard and the east coast of Greenland, and only managed to reach 80º 34’ north, near Spitsbergen. Dorothea was leaking badly after a bruising encounter with the ice and, in late August, a disappointed Buchan and Franklin turned for home.

         The voyage to find the North West Passage was equally unsuccessful, but significantly more controversial. The two ships, Isabella and Alexander, were dispatched to Baffin Bay in search of an ice-free passage on the western side of the bay that Barrow hoped would be the gateway to the passage itself and the eventual route to the Pacific.37
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         38In command of the 385-ton Isabella was John Ross, a highly capable but irascible forty-year-old Scot with an array of war wounds to show for his undoubted bravery under fire. Among the 57 men on board Isabella was James Clark Ross, his eighteen-year-old nephew. Lieutenant William Edward Parry, a twenty-seven-year-old naval officer, was placed in charge of the 252-ton Alexander.

         Isabella and Alexander left Britain with Dorothea and Trent, and the ships separated off Lerwick on 1 May. John Ross took his vessels into the Davis Strait off the west coast of Greenland and entered Baffin Bay. Pushing northwards, the ships battled through thick ice near the entrance to Smith Sound at the top of the bay, where impenetrable pack ice was discovered. Ross immediately abandoned hopes of finding a route to the north.

         Turning south along the coast of Ellesmere Island, Ross came to the edge of Jones Sound, which threw up another impassable wall of ice and blocked any hopes of venturing westwards. A little further south, the ships came to the mouth of the more-promising Lancaster Sound.

         William Baffin, who discovered the sound in his voyage of 1616, considered it just another bay and turned away, not realising it was, in fact, the opening of the North West Passage. John Ross made the same mistake two centuries later.

         Though he probed the outer reaches of the channel for a short while in early September, he was reluctant to press further west and instead turned for home. His return was greeted with a storm of controversy. Barrow never forgave Ross’ perceived lack of ambition at not driving deeper into Lancaster Sound and the Scot was never again given command of a Royal Navy ship.

         The baton of leadership in the quest for the Arctic Grail now passed into the capable hands of Edward Parry, a determined and ambitious officer. Over the next few years, he became the dominating force in Britain’s increasingly energetic attempts to discover the passage. When Barrow – undeterred by the failures of 1818 – calmly dispatched another two expeditions to the Arctic in 1819, Parry was put in charge of the seagoing operation with Hecla and Griper. 39
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         40Despite the disappointment of Trent, Franklin was ordered to undertake a mammoth overland voyage to trace the coastal outline at the most northern reaches of the Canadian continent. If possible, Franklin was asked to rendezvous with Parry somewhere along the vast coastline.

         John Franklin, a portly figure, who first went to sea at the age of twelve, was an unlikely candidate to lead a taxing journey of several thousand miles across barren territory by foot and canoe. He had no experience of trekking or living off the land and was incapable of travelling more than 8 miles (13 kilometres) a day. Seasoned travellers with dogs could move five times as fast in the same conditions, but Franklin never learned how to drive dogs. More importantly, he was almost totally dependent on either local natives or French-Canadian voyageurs to hunt fresh game for food.

         The Franklin overland expedition became a perfect example of Britain’s heroic failure in the Arctic during the Barrow years. It was poorly equipped, overly optimistic and soon demonstrated that when thrust into a totally unfamiliar environment, naval parties would struggle to survive. Courage alone was not enough.

         While the expedition was marked by extraordinary endurance, the venture was almost consumed by terrible hardship and starvation, murder and summary execution. It is even possible that some men resorted to cannibalism to survive. Although the expedition managed to cover remarkable distances, much of the territory was already mapped and the cost in human suffering was intolerable.

         Beginning on the western shore of Hudson Bay, Franklin’s party travelled to the mouth of the Coppermine River and explored eastwards along the coast to the appropriately named Point Turnagain. Franklin failed to rendezvous with Parry and only emerged from the ice in 1822 after a three-year ordeal that resulted in the death of eleven of the 20-man party. Among the casualties was Robert Hood, an Irish-born naval officer who 41was murdered by the Iroquois Indian, Michel Terohauté who, in turn, was summarily executed by Franklin’s deputy, John Richardson.

         Game was scarce and starvation gripped the travellers at every stage in the horrific journey. The men were reduced to eating scraps of animal skin or repulsive lichen scraped from rocks, which they called ‘tripes de roche’ (tripe of the rock). Once, they chewed the leather of their own spare shoes and Franklin earned the lasting reputation as ‘the man who ate his boots’. On his return home, he was hailed as a hero and the appalling suffering and wholesale deaths were quietly forgotten.

         Parry, by contrast, enjoyed the best advantage that any explorer in the field could possibly desire – a generous slice of good luck. To his credit, he exploited his good fortune and completed one of the greatest of all Arctic voyages.

         He sailed from London in late spring 1819 with provisions for two years and clear orders to penetrate deep into Lancaster Sound, where John Ross had feared to go. He commanded a robust naval bomb ship, the 375-ton Hecla, which was supported by the 180-ton Griper.

         Parry’s good fortune was that 1819 was an exceptionally easy year for ice and he made remarkable progress, crossing the dangerous waters of Baffin Bay and entering Lancaster Sound in early August. Pushing further west than anyone before, he found considerable new land and caught sight of several inlets to the south that offered hope of a way through the ice.

         Parry eventually sailed to the end of Lancaster Sound into a broad new expanse of water which he called Viscount Melville Sound. In mid-September, he reached 112º 51’ west, his farthest westerly point where he faced a daunting barrier of impassable ice. He called it Cape Providence.

         With the autumnal weather deteriorating fast, Parry hurried back to a bay on the newly discovered Melville Island to establish quarters at a place he named Winter Harbour.

         Parry had mapped around 1,000 miles (1,600 kilometres) of new territory and was convinced that a passage to the Pacific was achievable when 42the ice relented the following summer. The prospects, he wrote, were ‘truly exhilarating’.

         Hecla and Griper, however, were not able to escape from the ice of Winter Harbour for ten months. When free, Parry made a fresh attempt to drive westwards and on the distant horizon he discovered Banks Land (now Banks Island). But the ice was as impenetrable as the previous year and with the short navigable season once again closing in, Parry turned for home, finally stepping ashore in October 1820.

         He had penetrated about halfway through the North West Passage and had lifted the veil on more unknown Arctic terrain than anyone before. He was quickly installed as a new national hero, having demonstrated that, with good fortune, it was possible to survive unscathed through the Arctic winter and potentially complete the journey to the Pacific.

         Barrow was exhilarated by Parry’s outstanding voyage and did not hesitate to mount another expedition the following year to complete the task. Among those prepared to join his crusade was midshipman Francis Crozier.
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